The Senate

Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee

Criminal Code Amendment (Firearms Trafficking) Bill 2015 [Provisions]

© Commonwealth of Australia 2016 ISBN 978-1-76010-343-9

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Australia License.



The details of this licence are available on the Creative Commons website: $\underline{http://creative commons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/}.$

This document was produced by the Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee secretariat and printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Department of the Senate, Parliament House, Canberra.

Members of the committee

Members

Senator the Hon Ian Macdonald (LP, QLD) (Chair)

Senator Jacinta Collins (ALP, VIC) (Deputy Chair)

Senator Catryna Bilyk (ALP, TAS)

Senator Joanna Lindgren (LP, QLD)

Senator Nick McKim (AG, TAS)

Senator Dean Smith (LP, WA)

Secretariat

Ms Sophie Dunstone, Committee Secretary

Ms Erin Pynor, Senior Research Officer

Mr Antony Paul, Parliamentary Graduate

Ms Jo-Anne Holmes, Administrative Officer

Suite S1.61 Telephone: (02) 6277 3560

Parliament House Fax: (02) 6277 5794

CANBERRA ACT 2600 Email: legcon.sen@aph.gov.au



Table of contents

Members of the committeeiii	
Recommendations	vii
Chapter 1	
Introduction and background	1
Referral	1
Conduct of the inquiry	1
Purpose of the Bill	1
Overview of the Bill	2
Background to the Bill	2
Previous consideration by this committee	3
Consideration of the Bill by other committees	3
Other relevant inquiries	4
Chapter 2	
Key issues	5
Mandatory minimum sentences	6
Increased maximum penalties	10
Committee view	11
Dissenting Report of the Australian Labor Party	15
Dissenting Report by the Australian Greens	17
Appendix 1 - Public submissions	19



Recommendations

Recommendation 1

- 2.37 The committee recommends that the Commonwealth government:
- amend the Explanatory Memorandum to clarify who bears the onus of proof in relation to the age of defendants;
- clarify in the Explanatory Memorandum the operation of mandatory minimum sentencing in relation to people with significant cognitive impairment specifically relating to discretion in setting parole periods; and
- in the absence of a satisfactory explanation, consider including provisions regarding significant cognitive impairment similar to those found in the *Crimes Act 1900* (NSW) s25A(5)(b).

Recommendation 2

2.38 The committee recommends that the Bill be passed, subject to the preceding recommendation.



Chapter 1

Introduction and background

Referral

1.1 On 3 December 2015, the Criminal Code Amendment (Firearms Trafficking) Bill 2015 (the Bill) was referred to the Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee (the committee) for inquiry and report by 2 February 2016. Appendix 5 to the Senate Selection of Bills Committee report gave the following reasons for the Bill's referral:

For further scrutiny of the Bill and an opportunity for stakeholders to raise any concerns with the introduction of mandatory minimum sentencing.¹

Conduct of the inquiry

- 1.2 Details of the inquiry, including links to the Bill and associated documents, were placed on the committee's website. The committee wrote to organisations and individuals inviting submissions by 7 January 2016.
- 1.3 The committee received 9 submissions which are listed at Appendix 1. The committee thanks those organisations and individuals that made submissions.
- 1.4 The committee did not hold a public hearing.

Purpose of the Bill

- 1.5 The Bill seeks to amend the *Criminal Code Act 1995* (Criminal Code) to introduce a mandatory minimum sentence of imprisonment for the offences of trafficking firearms or firearms parts within Australia and into and out of Australia. The Bill would also increase the maximum penalties for those offences.
- 1.6 The Bill would give effect to the Commonwealth government's election commitment to strengthen criminal penalties for gun related crime.
- 1.7 The Minister for Justice and Minister Assisting the Prime Minister on Counter-Terrorism the Hon Michael Keenan MP explained that the amendments were primarily intended to have a deterrent effect:

The combination of mandatory minimum penalties and increased maximum penalties will send the strongest possible message to the community that the illegal trafficking of firearms will not be tolerated and will act as a strong disincentive for people who would seek to illegally import firearms and gun parts into Australia.³

¹ Selection of Bills Committee, *Report no. 16 of 2015*, Appendix 5, p. 1.

^{2 &}lt;u>www.aph.gov.au/senate_legalcon.</u>

The Hon Michael Keenan MP, Minister for Justice and Minister Assisting the Prime Minister on Counter-Terrorism, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 2 December 2015, p. 14 439.

Overview of the Bill

- 1.8 The Bill would introduce a mandatory minimum five-year term of imprisonment for the existing offences of trafficking firearms or firearms parts within Australia (Division 360 of the Criminal Code) and trafficking firearms or firearms parts into and out of Australia (Division 361 of the Criminal Code).⁴
- 1.9 Proposed new sections 360.3A and 361.5 would each provide that the court must impose a sentence of at least 5 years imprisonment for a person convicted of a relevant firearms trafficking offence. Penalties would be applied unless it is established on the balance of probabilities that the person was under 18 years when the offence was committed.
- 1.10 The Bill would repeal penalties of imprisonment for 10 years or a fine of 5,000 penalty units or both, currently found in both divisions. It would substitute greater penalty of imprisonment for 20 years or a fine of 5,000 penalty units or both.
- 1.11 The proposed amendments would apply only in relation to conduct engaged in at or after the commencement of Schedule 1: the day the Act receives royal assent.

Background to the Bill

- 1.12 The Commonwealth government's 2013 election commitment to introduce a mandatory term of imprisonment for Commonwealth firearms offences was included in the *Coalition Policy to Tackle Crime*, released in August 2013. The Coalition stated that it would 'send people to jail for a minimum of five years if they are caught bringing illegal firearms into Australia.'⁵
- 1.13 Since then, the government has introduced into Parliament amendments to insert a mandatory minimum sentence for firearms offences in three separate bills, followed by the removal of the relevant amendments on two occasions.
- 1.14 The Minister for Justice and the Minister Assisting the Prime Minister on Counter-Terrorism has explained the timely reintroduction of a mandatory minimum sentence in this Bill in the following terms:

The imperishable nature of firearms and the ongoing supply of firearms to the illicit market mean they remain a serious threat to the Australian community. Now, more than ever, we must do everything in our power to ensure the ongoing safety and security of all Australians. That is why the government is again introducing increased penalties to disrupt the illicit firearms market in Australia.⁶

The offences of trafficking firearms into and out of Australia were introduced by the *Crimes Legislation Amendment (Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures) Act 2015.*

⁵ Liberal Party of Australia and the Nationals, *The Coalition's policy to tackle crime*, Coalition policy document, Election 2013, accessed 5 January 2015, p. 8.

The Hon Michael Keenan MP, Minister for Justice and Minister Assisting the Prime Minister on Counter-Terrorism, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 2 December 2015, p. 14 438.

1.15 The role of firearms in the Martin Place Siege in 2014 was referred to by the minister upon introducing the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Powers, Offences and Other Measures) Bill 2015 during 2015. The minister stated that those amendments, which included a minimum mandatory sentence:

...reflect the Australian Government's commitment to act quickly to implement the firearms-related recommendations from the joint Commonwealth–NSW Review into the Martin Place Siege.⁷

Previous consideration by this committee

1.16 The committee has previously considered a proposed mandatory minimum five-year term of imprisonment for firearms offences in its inquiries into the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures) Bill 2014 and the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Powers, Offences and Other Measures) Bill 2015. On both occasions, the committee recommended that the Bill be passed; the provisions relating to the mandatory term of imprisonment were removed before these bills passed the Senate.

Consideration of the Bill by other committees

- 1.17 Consideration of the Bill by the Senate Standing Committee for the Scrutiny of Bills was not available at the time of drafting this report; however, the Scrutiny of Bills committee noted in relation to the 2014 and 2015 bills that mandatory minimum sentencing 'may be considered to trespass unduly on personal rights and liberties' and left the question to the Senate as a whole.⁸
- 1.18 The Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights has not considered the Bill at the time of drafting. However, the Statement of Compatibility with Human Rights in the explanatory memorandum states that the Bill is compatible with the human rights and freedoms recognised or declared in the international instruments listed in section 3 of the *Human Rights (Parliamentary Scrutiny) Act 2011.* The statement of compatibility also clarifies that the mandatory minimum sentence is not intended to be used as a 'sentencing guidepost', ¹⁰ consistent with the Human Rights Committee's recommendations in relation to the Crimes Legislation Amendment

_

The Hon Michael Keenan MP, Minister for Justice and Minister Assisting the Prime Minister on Counter-Terrorism, 'Tough penalties to tackle gun crime', Media release, 19 March 2015, https://www.ministerjustice.gov.au/Mediareleases/Pages/2015/FirstQuarter/19-March-2015-Tough-Penalties-To-Tackle-Gun-Crime.aspx (accessed 20 January 2016).

⁸ Senate Standing Committee for the Scrutiny of Bills, *Alert Digest 10/14*, p. 11; Senate Standing Committee for the Scrutiny of Bills, *Alert Digest 4/15*, p. 12.

⁹ Explanatory Memorandum to the Criminal Code Amendment (Firearms Trafficking) Bill 2015, Statement of Compatibility with Human Rights, pp 4–5.

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights, *Twenty-second report of the 44th Parliament* (13 May 2015), p. 38.

(Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures) Bill 2014 and the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Powers, Offences and Other Measures) Bill 2015. 11

Other relevant inquiries

1.19 The Joint Commonwealth–New South Wales Review into the Martin Place Siege (January 2015) considered mandatory minimum sentences within the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures) Bill 2014, commenting that the suite of amendments would 'strengthen the Commonwealth's ability to tackle illegal trafficking of firearms and firearms parts into and out of Australia'. The report's recommendations were not on the subject of firearms trafficking, but rather addressed regulation of the firearms market more generally.

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights, *Twenty-second report of the 44th Parliament* (13 May 2015), p. 38; Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights, *Fifteenth report of the 44th Parliament* (November 2014), p. 32; Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights, *Nineteenth report of the 44th Parliament* (3 March 2015), pp 106–7.

¹² Martin Place Siege: Joint Commonwealth–New South Wales Review, January 2015, p. 49.

Chapter 2

Key issues

- 2.1 Most submissions received by the committee expressed concerns about the use of mandatory minimum penalties and their application in the Bill, as well as the increased maximum penalties. The issues raised by submitters were substantially the same as those discussed during the committee's inquiries into the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures) Bill 2014 and the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Powers, Offences and Other Measures) Bill 2015 which reported in September 2014 and June 2015 respectively.
- 2.2 Submitters and witnesses were broadly supportive of the object of the Bill: to send a strong message about the consequences of firearms trafficking in Australia.² The explanatory memorandum explains the Bill's significance in the following terms:

Due to their enduring nature, a firearm can remain within the illicit market for many years and be accessed by serious and organised crime groups for use in the commission of violent crimes. The mandatory minimum sentence and increased maximum penalties aim to more adequately reflect the serious nature and potential consequences of supplying firearms and firearm parts to the illicit market.³

- As a means of achieving this objective, the committee heard some support for mandatory minimum penalties as well as for increasing maximum penalties. The Department of Immigration and Border Protection (DIBP) submitted the Bill would ensure:
 - a cohesive deterrence message is delivered;
 - firearms traffickers can be held responsible for the consequences of supplying firearms into the illicit market; and
 - consistent penalties can be applied to firearms related offences at the border and domestically.⁴
- 2.4 Further, the Attorney-General's Department (AGD) submitted that the increase in maximum penalties would have international significance, as it:

¹ Civil Liberties Australia (CLA), Submission 2, p. 1.

The Hon Michael Keenan MP, Minister for Justice and Minister Assisting the Prime Minister on Counter-Terrorism, 'Tough new penalties for illicit firearms', Media release, 2 December 2015, https://www.ministerjustice.gov.au/Mediareleases/Pages/2015/FourthQuarter/2-December-2015-Tough-new-penalties-for-illicit-firearms.aspx (accessed 19 January 2016).

³ Explanatory Memorandum, p. 3.

⁴ Department of Immigration and Border Protection (DIBP), Submission 8, p. 1.

....supports current efforts to prevent the diversion of firearms into overseas illicit markets, and demonstrates Australia's commitment to its international obligations regarding the illegal firearms trade.⁵

Mandatory minimum sentences

- 2.5 Given the Parliament has recently considered mandatory minimum sentences for firearm trafficking offences in two other bills, submitters opposed to mandatory minimum sentencing described the amendments as having already been 'considered and rejected' by the Parliament.⁶
- 2.6 Submitters also queried whether introducing mandatory minimum sentences would have an effect on the incidence of firearms smuggling. For example, the Law Council of Australia (LCA), the Australian Human Rights Commission (AHRC) and the NSW Council for Civil Liberties argued that there is no evidence that harsher penalties have a deterrent value. Instead, they opined that non-legislative mechanisms would be more effective in reducing the supply and diversion of firearms. For example, the LCA submitted that enhanced border agency controls would be more effective than mandatory sentencing.
- 2.7 By contrast, Dr John Coyne of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute (ASPI) was supportive of mandatory minimum sentencing to strengthen gun control. Writing 'from a crime prevention perspective', Dr Coyne submitted that:

Whilst minimum sentences do not always have a deterrent effect, they are taken into consideration by some in the planning of criminal activities. Regardless, the Bill sends a powerful message to criminals and the general public that reinforces two decades of strong gun control in Australia.

- 2.8 Dr Coyne also recommended the insertion of an additional offence for trafficking replica and deactivated firearms. 10
- 2.9 In response to concerns about mandatory minimum sentences, the AGD told the committee that the Bill accompanies a range of current or proposed non-legislative mechanisms to reduce illegal firearms and gun-related crime in the community. The AGD submitted that the government has:

9 Dr John Coyne, Submission 1, p. 2.

⁵ Attorney-General's Department (AGD), Submission 9, p. 2.

⁶ Law Society of NSW, *Submission 3*, p. 1; Law Council of Australia (LCA), *Submission 4*, p. 3; NSW Council of Labor Lawyers, *Submission 7*, p. 2.

Law Society of NSW, Submission 3, p. 2; LCA, Submission 4, p. 3; Australian Human Rights Commission (AHRC), Submission 5, pp 12–13; NSW Council for Civil Liberties, Submission 6, p. 2.

⁸ LCA, Submission 4, p. 3.

¹⁰ Dr John Coyne, Submission 1, p. 2.

- introduced National Anti-Gang Squads across Australia;
- implemented a new CrimTrac database to help link firearms to suspects (Australian Ballistic Information Network) and a firearms tracing service;
- invested \$88 million in screening and examination of international mail, air and sea cargo;
- merged CrimTrac and the Australian Crime Commission; and
- given consideration to a range of additional measures including a national firearms amnesty. 11
- 2.10 The AGD also advised the committee that since National Anti-Gang Squads were introduced, '480 illicit firearms have been removed from the community'. 12
- 2.11 Both the AGD and the Department of Immigration and Border Protection (DIBP) cited the Martin Place Siege as an example of the need to address firearms trafficking and the role of mandatory minimum sentences. The AGD stated:

The circumstances of the siege, in which Monis used an unregistered pump action shotgun to hold customers and staff hostage in a Sydney café, highlight the consequences of the illegal distribution and acquisition of firearms.¹³

2.12 Similarly, DIBP submitted that the introduction of mandatory minimum sentences as outlined in the Bill:

...supports the *Martin Place Siege: Joint Commonwealth* — *New South Wales Review* in relation to strengthening the ability of the Commonwealth to address the availability of illegal firearms in Australia.¹⁴

Human rights implications

2.13 The AHRC queried whether mandatory minimum sentencing would conflict with Australia's international law obligations. Civil Liberties Australia, the Law Society of New South Wales and the NSW Council for Civil Liberties were similarly concerned, submitting that mandatory minimum sentencing may engage articles 7, 9 and 14 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR). The AHRC elaborated, stating that:

If a sentence is fixed in advance without regard to the circumstances of the offence and the offender, and the court is not permitted to make an

¹¹ AGD, Submission 9, p. 5.

¹² AGD, Submission 9, p. 5.

¹³ AGD, Submission 9, p. 3.

¹⁴ DIBP, Submission 8, p. 1.

¹⁵ CLA, Submission 2, p. 1; Law Society of New South Wales, Submission 3, p. 2, NSW Council for Civil Liberties, Submission 6, pp 1–2.

assessment of whether such a sentence is appropriate, then the sentence is bound to be arbitrary. There will be no rational or proportionate correlation between the deprivation of liberty and the particular circumstances of the case. ¹⁶

- 2.14 Further, the Law Society of New South Wales noted that mandatory minimum sentences are not reviewable on appeal and this could breach Australia's obligations under Article 14(5) of the ICCPR. The Law Society sought further clarification of this in the explanatory memorandum. ¹⁷ AGD provided an explanation insofar as reiterating that the Bill would not 'prevent appeal of a conviction, or of any sentence above the mandatory minimum sentence'. ¹⁸
- 2.15 In response to concerns about the limitations on articles 9 and 14 of the ICCPR, the AGD stated that:

Mandatory minimum sentences for firearms trafficking offences are reasonable and necessary both to deter would-be firearms traffickers, and to appropriately penalise those who commit these offences. There are appropriate limitations and safeguards in place to ensure that detention is proportionate in each individual case.¹⁹

2.16 As stated in the Explanatory Memorandum, AGD reiterated that 'the actual time a person will be incarcerated will remain at the discretion of the sentencing judge'. This is discussed further below as a legislative safeguard.

Legislative safeguards

- 2.17 Several submitters commented that mandatory minimum laws contravene the rule of law, and sought further safeguards to limit or clarify their application. For example, the LCA stated that the amendments risk placing 'unacceptable restrictions on judicial discretion and independence which is inconsistent with rule of law principles'.²¹
- 2.18 To mitigate this risk, this committee previously recommended that the Explanatory Memorandum to the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures) Bill 2014 be amended to clarify that that sentencing discretion is preserved in setting non-parole periods. At that time, the committee explained that:

17 Law Society of New South Wales, *Submission 3*, pp 2–3.

19 AGD, Submission 9, p. 3.

AGD, Submission 9, p. 4.

21 LCA, Submission 4, p. 2.

¹⁶ AHRC, Submission 5, p. 8.

¹⁸ AGD, Submission 9, p. 4.

- ...in appropriate cases there may be significant differences between the non-parole period and the head sentence; and that the mandatory minimum is not intended to be used as a sentencing guidepost (where the minimum penalty is appropriate for 'the least serious category of offending').²²
- 2.19 In response to the committee's recommendation, the government amended the Explanatory Memorandum, which was noted in the committee's report on the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Powers, Offences and Other Measures) Bill 2015. The explanatory memorandum to that Bill now states that:
 - ...the mandatory minimum is not intended as a guide to the non-parole period, which in some cases may differ significantly from the head sentence.²⁴
- 2.20 In addition to the amendment to the Explanatory Memorandum, the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights recommended that the relevant provisions should be amended so that the scope of discretion available to judges is clear. This recommendation was noted by the minister in subsequent correspondence with that committee. ²⁶
- 2.21 The LCA noted the change to the Explanatory Memorandum, commenting that 'some of [its] concerns regarding the mandatory sentences in the Bill are mitigated', although other concerns remain.²⁷
- 2.22 Describing this new safeguard as 'welcome', the AHRC stated that 'the position expressed is consistent with' a majority decision of the High Court in relation to minimum non-parole.²⁸ Overall, however, the AHRC submitted 'that the Court should retain discretion over both the head sentence and the non-parole period', noting that regardless of non-parole periods, criminal sentences of 12 months imprisonment or more would result in person failing the 'character test' in section 501 of the *Migration Act 1958* (Cth).²⁹

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights, *Twenty-second report of the 44th Parliament*, 13 May 2015, pp 38–39 (considering the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures) Bill 2014).

28 Hili v The Queen (2010) 224 CLR 520 at 526 [13] (French CJ, Gummow, Hayne, Crennan, Kiefel and Bell JJ).

Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee, *Crimes Legislation Amendment* (*Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures*) *Bill 2014*, September 2014, p. 26.

Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee, *Crimes Legislation Amendment* (*Powers, Offences and Other Measures*) *Bill 2015*, June 2015, p. 25.

Explanatory Memorandum, p. 4.

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights, *Twenty-fourth report of the 44th Parliament*, 23 June 2015, p. 76.

²⁷ LCA, Submission 4, p. 4.

²⁹ AHRC, Submission 5, p. 6.

- 2.23 Submitters raised the possibility that mandatory minimum sentences for firearms smuggling would have unintended consequences, and sought further safeguards to mitigate them. The LCA submitted that consequences could include:
 - sentences that are disproportionate to the offence;
 - increased recidivism, particularly for young or first time offenders;
 - reduced community confidence in the justice system; and
 - unjust outcomes for vulnerable groups. 30
- 2.24 In particular, the LCA argued that younger offenders could be disadvantaged by the possible need to prove their age at the time of the offence. It was submitted that:

It is not made clear whether or not the onus lies on the defendant to establish on the balance of probabilities that s/he was under 18 at the time of the offence. Proposed section 360.3A provides that the mandatory minimum penalty does not apply if 'it is established'. However, unless the position is made clear (e.g. by saying 'the court is satisfied on the balance of probabilities...') a court may interpret the provision as placing the onus on the defendant and that would be undesirable.³¹

2.25 The LCA was also concerned about the application of mandatory sentencing to those with 'significant' cognitive impairment, stating:

While juveniles are exempt, nothing is said as to persons with 'significant cognitive impairment' (as has happened in other legislation, for example, in sections 25A and 25B of the *Crimes Act 1900* (NSW) – the 'one punch' laws and latest mandatory minimum sentencing legislation in NSW). Excluding sentencing discretion in such cases is manifestly unjust.³²

Increased maximum penalties

2.26 The AHRC raised a number of concerns with increasing maximum penalties for offences in Divisions 360 and 361 from 10 years imprisonment (or a fine of 2,500 penalty units) to 20 years imprisonment (or a fine of 5,000 penalty units). The AHRC's submission queried whether consultation about the proposed increase had occurred with law enforcement agencies, prosecution agencies and states and territories, and argued that there was 'insufficient' evidence of the need to increase the maximum penalties. The AHRC submitted that the Bill would create inconsistent penalties for equivalent offences between the Commonwealth, states and territories.³³

³⁰ LCA, Submission 4, p. 2.

³¹ LCA, Submission 4, p. 5.

³² LCA, Submission 4, p. 5.

³³ AHRC, Submission 5, p. 14.

2.27 Conversely, the proposed increase in maximum penalties for firearms offences was supported by the LCA which argued that the amendment reflects both 'community concern' and the 'potential serious consequences' of illegal firearms trading.³⁴ It was the submission of the LCA that:

...the increase in the maximum fine would provide the judiciary the ability to impose a fine that reflects the severity of the community's attitude to the offence. The increases in the maximum penalties for illegal firearm trafficking would provide ample ability for a court to adequately punish those who seek to use weapons to do our communities harm. ³⁵

2.28 In contrast with the AHRC, the LCA argued that increased maximum penalties would achieve consistency with state and territory firearms offences, for example in New South Wales where 'illegal possession of a firearm may attract a maximum term of imprisonment of 14 years'. The AGD submitted that

...in NSW firearms trafficking offences can attract a maximum sentence of 20 years imprisonment (s.51 *Firearms Act 1996 (NSW))*, while in the ACT repeated firearms trafficking offences within a 12-month period can also attract a maximum penalty of 20 years' imprisonment (s. 220 *Firearms Act 1996 (ACT)*).³⁷

- 2.29 The AGD advised the committee that the department consulted with the Australian Federal Police and the Commonwealth Director of Public Prosecutions in developing the Bill, and that those agencies 'did not raise concerns with the proposed increase'. The department also submitted that the government, in its 2013 policy to tackle crime, had expressed 'its intention to encourage the States and Territories to adopt higher maximum penalties for serious firearms possession offences'. 39
- 2.30 Significantly, the Explanatory Memorandum states that while providing scope for greater terms of imprisonment 'for the most serious firearms trafficking offences', the proposed increase in the upper limit of applicable penalties would 'continue to support the courts' discretion when sentencing offenders'.⁴⁰

Committee view

2.31 The purpose of the Bill is to strengthen penalties for the serious offences of firearms trafficking in order to reduce the associated social and systemic harms.

³⁴ LCA, Submission 4, p. 1.

³⁵ LCA, Submission 4, p. 2.

³⁶ Firearms Act 1996 (NSW), section 36(1); LCA, Submission 4, p. 2.

³⁷ AGD, Submission 9, p. 4.

³⁸ AGD, Submission 9, p. 5.

³⁹ AGD, Submission 9, p. 2.

⁴⁰ Explanatory Memorandum, p. 4.

- 2.32 As discussed in this chapter, some submitters expressed concerns about the proposed mandatory minimum sentences and the increased maximum penalties.
- 2.33 In relation to mandatory minimum sentences, the arguments raised during the course of this inquiry were largely canvassed in the committee's previous inquiries into the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures) Bill 2014 and Crimes Legislation Amendment (Powers, Offences and Other Measures) Bill 2015. The committee notes that its report on the 2015 Bill included evidence from the AGD:

...that 'there is strong support within law enforcement for stronger laws in relation to dealing with firearms due to the size of the illicit market and the concerns they have'. The department noted that the introduction of mandatory minimum penalties would act as 'a strong deterrent against the illegal trafficking of firearms'. 41

- 2.34 Further, the committee is aware of examples of mandatory minimum sentences being applied in other jurisdictions, including for firearms trafficking in the United Kingdom and Queensland and for firearms-related offences in the United States of America. ⁴² The committee does not, therefore, believe that the mandatory minimum sentences proposed in the Bill are inconsistent with those in force in other jurisdictions.
- 2.35 The committee also notes that mandatory minimum sentencing is not a new concept for the Commonwealth. In fact, in 2010 the then Australian government legislated mandatory minimum sentencing for people smuggling offences.
- 2.36 The LCA raised specific concerns about the Bill's impact on vulnerable groups (see paragraphs 2.23 to 2.25). The committee shares these concerns and notes that minors are specifically exempted from the mandatory minimum sentence provisions. The committee also sees merit in the government clarifying safeguards for defendants with significant cognitive impairment, to ensure that these people are not unfairly disadvantaged. The committee notes that this legislation does not impact the courts' discretion in determining parole periods for this category of defendant (see paragraphs 2.15, 2.16 and 2.18).

Recommendation 1

- 2.37 The committee recommends that the Commonwealth government:
- amend the Explanatory Memorandum to clarify who bears the onus of proof in relation to the age of defendants;
- clarify in the Explanatory Memorandum the operation of mandatory minimum sentencing in relation to people with significant cognitive

Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee, *Crimes Legislation Amendment* (*Powers, Offences and Other Measures*) *Bill 2015*, June 2015, p. 25.

⁴² AGD, Submission 9, p. 2.

impairment specifically relating to discretion in setting parole periods; and

- in the absence of a satisfactory explanation, consider including provisions regarding significant cognitive impairment similar to those found in the *Crimes Act 1900* (NSW) s25A(5)(b).
- 2.38 On the basis of the preceding recommendation, the committee recommends that the Bill be passed.

Recommendation 2

2.39 The committee recommends that the Bill be passed, subject to the preceding recommendation.

Senator the Hon Ian Macdonald Chair

Dissenting Report of the Australian Labor Party

- 1.1 While Labor Senators agree with the report's commentary in relation to increased penalty provisions, we have serious concerns about the introduction of mandatory minimum sentences for those convicted of firearm trafficking offences.
- 1.2 The Australian Labor Party maintains its position that the introduction of mandatory minimum sentences for firearms trafficking offences should be avoided. We note that these provisions have now twice been considered and rejected by Parliament, including by this Parliament in relation to the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Powers, Offences and Other Measures) Bill 2015. The government has, for a third time, failed to justify the need for such provisions.
- 1.3 Effective deterrence is achieved by increasing penalties applicable to the most serious firearms offenders, rather than by imposing prison terms on the least serious offenders. Labor Senators have previously made this point in relation to the Crimes Legislation Amendment (Powers, Offences and Other Measures) Bill 2015 by recommending 'that the imposition of mandatory minimum sentences for firearms trafficking offences be replaced with increased penalty provisions'. ²
- 1.4 Increasing maximum penalties for firearms trafficking reflects community concern about the consequences of serious firearms offences, and mirrors the regime of penalties proposed by Labor when it was in Government. It would send a strong message to serious criminals about the consequences of firearms trafficking.
- 1.5 Introducing mandatory minimum sentences for firearms trafficking, on the other hand, will make no contribution towards sustaining or enhancing Australia's firearms control regime, and as demonstrated by submissions to the inquiry from peak law organisations.³ For example, the AHRC submitted that the explanatory memorandum contains 'no evidence' that mandatory minimum sentences deter offenders from firearms trafficking and that 'empirical evidence from [other] jurisdictions... suggests the opposite'.⁴
- 1.6 As well highlighting the lack of evidence for their effectiveness, submitters identified a range of unintended consequences flowing from the introduction of mandatory minimum sentences for firearms offences. The LCA stated that the amendments carry risk of:

Law Society of NSW, *Submission 3*, p. 2; Law Council of Australia, *Submission 4*, p. 3; Australian Human Rights Commission, *Submission 5*, pp 12–13; NSW Council for Civil Liberties, *Submission 6*, p. 2.

Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee, Crimes Legislation Amendment (Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures) Bill 2014, Dissenting report, September 2014, p. 28.

³ NSW Council for Civil Liberties, Submission 6, p. 4.

⁴ Australian Human Rights Commission, *Submission 6*, p. 12.

- ...undermining the community's confidence in the judiciary and the criminal justice system as a whole by not allowing judicial discretion to impose an appropriate head sentence.⁵
- 1.7 Further, considering the increased burden on the justice system from the introduction of mandatory minimum sentences, the LCA warned of:
 - ...potentially increasing the likelihood of recidivism because prisoners are inappropriately placed in a learning environment for crime. This reinforces criminal identity and fails to address the underlying causes of crime. This has particular relevance to young and first time offenders.⁶
- 1.8 State prosecutors and the LCA have previously raised concerns with this committee that introducing mandatory minimum sentences for firearms offences could 'lead to unjust results.' The LCA specified that these results will be 'particularly for vulnerable groups within society: indigenous peoples, young adults, juveniles, persons with a mental illness or cognitive impairment and the impoverished. While the report recommends changes to the explanatory memorandum in this regard, Labor Senators do not consider that non-legislative changes can adequately mitigate the potential impact of the Bill on vulnerable groups, or the risk of a miscarriage of justice.
- 1.9 Accordingly, in restating Labor's commitment to stronger penalties for firearms trafficking offences, Labor Senators would support the passage of the Bill without the harmful and unnecessary inclusion of mandatory minimum sentences.

Recommendation 1

- 1.10 Labor Senators recommend:
 - that the Bill be amended to remove the provisions for mandatory minimum penalties; and
 - that the Bill as amended be passed.

Senator Jacinta Collins Deputy Chair

⁵ Law Council of Australia, Submission 4, p. 4.

⁶ Law Council of Australia, Submission 4, p. 4.

⁷ Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee, *Crimes Legislation Amendment* (*Psychoactive Substances and Other Measures*) *Bill 2014*, September 2014, p. 24; Law Council of Australia, *Submission 4*, p. 4.

⁸ Law Council of Australia, Submission 4, p. 4.

Dissenting Report by the Australian Greens

- 1.1 The Criminal Code Amendment (Firearms Trafficking) Bill 2015 seeks to amend the *Criminal Code Act 1995* to introduce a mandatory minimum sentence of imprisonment for the offences of trafficking firearms or firearms parts within Australia and into and out of Australia.
- 1.2 The Bill also increases the maximum penalties for these offences.
- 1.3 This will be the third time the Government has sought to legislate mandatory minimum sentences for firearms trafficking offences.
- 1.4 The majority of submissions received by the Committee raised significant concerns about the mandatory minimum penalties.
- 1.5 There are currently no mandatory minimum penalties in the *Criminal Code Act 1995*.
- 1.6 The *Migration Act 1958* contains mandatory minimum sentences for certain people smuggling related offences. These are the only Commonwealth offences that currently attract a mandatory minimum sentence.
- 1.7 The Law Council of Australia submitted that:
 - increasing the maximum penalty to 20 years imprisonment or a fine of 5000 penalty units, or both, reflects community concern regarding the potential seriousness of the offence.¹
- 1.8 Many submissions also acknowledged that it was appropriate to increase to increase the maximum penalties and that an increase in penalties acknowledges the gravity of firearms trafficking offences.
- 1.9 The Australian Human Rights Commission submitted that:
 - the imposition of mandatory minimum sentences raises the real prospect that the sentence imposed will be disproportionate to the culpability of the offender or the gravity of the particular offence because it is set without regard to the individual circumstances of the offender and context of the particular offence.²

Conclusion

1.10 The Australian Greens acknowledge the seriousness of firearms trafficking and the need for sentences that reflect the seriousness of the offending.

¹ Law Council of Australia, Submission 4, p. 2.

² Australian Human Rights Commission, *Submission* 5, p. 5.

- 1.11 The Australian Greens do not support mandatory minimum sentences for any offences.
- 1.12 There is no clear evidence that mandatory sentencing laws have a deterrent effect. In addition, they can result in injustice and remove the court's discretion to impose a sentence that takes the individual circumstances of the offender and the offence into account.

Recommendation 1

1.13 The Australian Greens recommend clauses relating to mandatory minimum sentencing be removed from Schedule 1.

Senator Nick McKim Australian Greens Senator for Tasmania

Appendix 1

Public submissions

- 1 Australian Strategic Policy Institute
- 2 Civil Liberties Australia
- 3 The Law Society of New South Wales
- 4 Law Council of Australia
- 5 Australian Human Rights Commission
- 6 NSW Council for Civil Liberties
- 7 NSW Society of Labor Lawyers
- 8 Department of Immigration and Border Protection
- 9 Attorney-General's Department